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PETER E. COL HOUSE
Location: 1163 Martin Avenue, San Jose, Santa Clara County,

California.

USGS San Jose Quadrangle, Universal Transverse
Mercator Coordinates: 10.596405.4131950.

Present Owner: Reid and Diane Brackett.
Present Use: Residence.
Significance: The Peter E. Col house is an especially notable example of

the work of San Jose architects Wolfe & Wolfe. During the
early 20th century this father and son team was one of the
most prominent and highly respected architectural firms in
the Santa Clare valley, and Northern California in general,
Much of the architecture that came out of Wolfe & Wolfe's
office in the 1910s was heavily influenced by the Prairie
style designs of Frank Lloyd Wright. This stuccoed frame
residence, one of their more widely publicized designs, was
built in 1913 and is characterized by rectilinear massing,
low flat roefs, deep horizental eaves, and geometric art
glass windows. Col, a wholesale grocer, had his residence
built in San Jose's fashionable Hanchett Residence Park, a
landscaped real estate development, laid out in 1907 by San
Francisce landscape architect John MecLaren. The house is
in excellent condition and remains unchanged since its con-
struction.

PART T. HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History:
1. Date of erection: 1913.
2. Architects: Wolfe & Wolfe.

Frank D. Wolfe {(1862-1926) and his son Carl J. (1888-1931) formed

a partnership in 1912, to become during the early 20th century one

of the most highly respected architectural firms in the Santa Clara
valley, and northern California in general. The Weolfe family -

Frank, his wife Nellie, son Carl, and father Jeremiah - moved from
Greensville, Ohio to San Jose in 1890, Until 1900, Frank Wolfe was
listed in the City Directory as an independent builder and contractor,
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During that decade he engaged himself in an elemental form of real
estate speculation. According to his brother-in-law, Warren Rice,
Wolfe would design and build a house, supervising the construction,
then move his family into the completed structure. While Mrs. Wolfe
landscaped the lawn, and finished the interior surfaces of this
house, her husband would begin constructing a second house. When
this residence was built, the Wolfes sold the one in which they were
presently living and moved into the new house. The process was re-
peated again and again until the turn of the century when Wolfe had
established a reliable practice, making his family's nomadic life-
style no longer necessary.

Charles McKenzie, S5an Jose contractor, joined Wolfe in 1900, prac-
ticing together under the name of Wolfe & McKenzie until 1912. A4s
a promotional device, the firm published a catalogue of its resi-
dential designs in 1907, tailored to appeal to middle-income tastes
and means. Most of the builders' work during the first decade of
the century was designed in the modest bungalow style, character-
ized by the use of primitive building materials — ashlar and rubble-
stone walls, exposed wooden beams, and low, broad shingled roofs.
For larger residences they used the more scophisticated and elabo-
rate Neo-Classical mode as their model. In 1911 Carl joined his
father's firm, after just having spend a year at Heidelburg College
in Ohio. He became a full partner in 1912, thus creating Wolfe &
Wolfe.

Much of the architecture that came out of Wolfe & Wolfe's office in
the 1910s was heavily influenced by the Prairie Style designs of
Chicago architect Frank Lloyd Wright. The Peter Col residence, one
of their more widely publicized designs, is an especially fine ex-
ample of the firm's work during this period. Wolfe & Wolfe's broad-
ening reputation brought a greater volume of commissions into the
office. To better accomodate the increasingly diverse demands of
the growing business the Wolfe's took on an additional partner in
1917, William E. Higgins, forming the new firm of Wolfe & Higgins.

By the 1920s, the architects had branched out beyond residential
designing, to include commissions for public schools, hospitals,
apartments and condominiums, and a large number of commercial struc-
tures. Following the stylistic trends of the Bay area, they worked
in the Mission and Spanish Revival modes, the Neo-Classical, some
Moorish, and the now popularized Prairie style. The prominent Bay
architects - Ernest Cozhead, Willis Polk, Julia Morgan, A. Page
Brovn and William W. Wurster - emphasized in both their residential
and institutional designs the integration of indoors and outdoors.
In keeping with this principal, Wolfe & Higgins also designed their
buildings so that the arrangement of doorways and large windows en-
abled entire rooms tc be easily opened to the outdoors, known as
their "open-air" architecture.
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Frank Wolfe died of cancer August 17, 1926 at the age of sixty-
three. His son Carl died only five years later on July 4, 1931.
After Carl Wolfe's death, Higgins took on a new partner in 1936,
becoming Higgins & Root. This firm continues today, managed by
Higginse' son, William L. Higgins.

Original and subsequent owners: The structure stands upon Lot 5,
the north 35-foot section of Lot 4, and a 25-foot southern section
of Lot 6, in Block 16 of the Hanchett Residence Park in San Jose.
The following chain of title to the deed of the property is in the
Office of the Recorder and Probate Court, Santa Clara County Court-
house, Santa Clara.

1911 Deed, September 19, 1911, recorded in Book 376, page 36.
The Peninsula Land & Improvement Company sold Lot 5 in Block
16 of the Hanchett Residence Park to Peter E. Col.

1911 Deed, September 19, 1911, recorded in Book 373, page 595.
E.P. Lion sold the northeast 350 foot section of Lot 4 in
Block 16 of the Hanchett Residence Park to Peter E. Col.

1916 Deed, June 3, 1916, Vivian L. Blair, et al, sold part of
Lot 6 in Block 16 of Hanchett Residence Park to Peter E. Col.

1936 Will, Peter E. Col willed the house and land upon which it
stands to his wife, Blanche M. Col.

1956 Deed, January 3, 1956, recorded as deed number 1164576.
Blanche M. Col seld all the property to Charles Bittner.

1970 Deed, August 13, 1970, recorded as deed number 3855809,
Charles Bittner sold the property to Carl Kennell.

1977 Deed, August 3, 1977, recorded as deed number 5741128W.
Carl Kennell socld the property to Reid and Diane Brackett.

Original plan and construction: No original plans are known to
exist. A photograph of the house was on the cover of the February
1914 issue of The Architect and Engineer of California, appearing
as it does today. In that issue the editors wrote of the house,
"The residence of Peter Col, in College Park, is a pleasing exam-
ple of the latest style in domestic architecture. The style is a
natural result of a growing tendency to use asphalt materials for
roof coverings. The well-known work of Frank Lloyd Wright is along
these same low, broad lines."

Alterations and additions: According to Peter Col's son, Eugene,
no changes have been made to the basic structure or interior plan,.
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What work has been completed has altered only the color of inte-
rior and exterior surfaces. The original color of the exterior
was white, and has now been painted a mustard yellow. The orig-
inal color of the interior wall surfaces has also been changed.
Most recently, new appliances have been installed in the kitchen
and bathrooms.

Historic Persons and Events Connected with the Structure:

Peter E. Col, the original owner of the house, was born in France in
1867. He came to San Jose with his brother Alphonse as a young man,
and was first listed in the San Jose City Directory of 1893 as a gro-
cery salesman for the City Store. In 1898 Col, together with Patrick
Walsh, co-founded the wholesale grocery company of Walsh and Col, which
was incorporated in 1900. He cormissioned Wolfe & Wolfe to design and
build his Martin Avenue residence in 1913, to which he retired after
leaving the grocery business in 1924. Col died July 20, 1935 at age
sixty-eight, survived by his wife Blanche, and sons Louis and Eugene.

Sources of Information:
1. 01d views:

General view of exterior, 1910s, frontispiece for 'San Jose and
Santa Clara County, California, the Land Opportunities.”
San Jose, n.d.

General view of exterior, February 1914, cover photograph for
The Architect and Engineer of Califormia, February, 1914.

Original architectural drawings of Frank D. Wolfe's firm, ca.
1900-1950. Frank D. Wolfe, Charles McKenzie, Carl J. Wolfe,
William E. Higgins, Architects; in the possession of Patricia
Dixon, San Jose.

2. Bibliography:
a. Primary and unpublished sources:

Interview with Eugene E. Col, son of Peter E. Col, lLos Gatos,
August 1978,

Interview with Patricia Dixon, Candidate for Master's Degree,
San Jose State University, Geography Department, Wolfe &
Wolfe, thesis, San Jose, July 30, 1979.

interview with William I, Higgins, AIA, Higgins and Root,
Los Gatos, July 1977.
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Santa Clara County Deed Records, Qffice of the Recorder,
Santa Clara County Courthouse, Santa Clara.

Santa Clara County Probate Records, Probate Court, Wills,
Santa Clara County Courthouse, Santa Clara.

b. Secondary and published sources:

The Architect and Engineer of California, February 1914,
pages 48-62; November 1917, Vol. L1, no. 2, page 107.

San Jose City Directory, 1893-1979.

San Jose "Mercury," August 18, 1926; July 4, 1931;
July 21, 1935,

Prepared by Jan E. Cigliano
Architectural Historian
Historic American
Buildings Survey
Summer 1979

. PART II. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. General Statement:

1.

2.

Architectural character: The Col house is a notable example of the
work of San Jose architects Wolfe & Wolfe. Much of the firm's work
in the 1910s was heavily influenced by the Prairie style designs of
Frank Lloyd Wright. This stuccoed frame residence was built in 1913
and is characterized by rectilinear massing, low flat roofs, deep
horizontal eaves, and geometric art glass windows.

Condition of fabric: Excellent.

B. Description of Exterior:

1.

Overall dimensions: The structure measures fifty-two feet across
the front and is fifty feet deep. The one-and-a-half story central
(living room) section rises above the principal roof lipme. It is
flanked on either side by one-story sections which project out be-
yond the central block.

Foundation: Poured concrete.

Structural system and framing: Wooden balloon frame construction.
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4. Wall construction, finish and color: A rough textured stucco with
wooden trim. The stucco is a mustard yellow color; the trim has
been finished with a flat brown paint.

5., Porches: The central entrance porch is a large concrete terrace,
measuring 22'-3" x 9"-9'., It is fronted by a brick parapet wall
to the south of the wide stairs and a square brick pier at the
north.

6. Chimneys: A chimney rises from the southwest upper parapet wall.
A second chimney, serving the basement furnace, is located on the
northwest side of the lower roof.

7. Openings:

a. Doorways and doors: The center front doorway has a wooden frame
door which is carved out to create a stencil geometric pattern
based on the rectangle. The door is entered from the front porch
and is on axis with the living room. Two multi-paned frame doors,
entered from the porch, are at the sides of the flanking sectioms
which project beyond the central block. A double-paneled frame
door is at the rear.

b. Windows: Two large fixed single-pane glass windows flank the
center front door. Six rectangular clerestory windows with geo-—
metrical art glass detailing, reminiscent of Frank Lloyd Wright's
designs, are inset into the living room's upper half-story.

Four eight-light casements punctuate each flanking projection's
front elevation. The windows on the southwest {side) elevation
are either eight-light fixed or eight-light paired casement win-
dows. On the northeast (side) elevation two fixed stained-glass
windows are inset towards the front of the house; towards the
rear, three one-over-one double-hung sash windows are grouped to-
gether; two pairs of eight-light casements are in the elevation's
central section. The northwest (rear) elevation is punctuated

by five pairs of eight-light casements and two one-over-one dou-
ble~hung sash windows. All windows are framed by simply molded
wooden surrounds.

8. Roof: Flat gravel covered roofs are articulated by plain, flat para-
pets. Deep horizontal eaves extend from the base of the parapets
three feet beyond the wall surface.

Site: The residence faces southeast, and is erected upon a slightly
sloping half-acre. lot within Hanchett Residence Park. Surrounded by
mostly Bungalow and Spanish Revival style houses, the Col residence
stands out as one of the most interesting architectural designs in th
neighborhood. :
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Prepared by Robert Clark
Architectural Technician
Historic American
Buildings Survey
Summer 1978

PART TII. PROJECT INFORMATION

This project was undertaken by the Historic American Buildings Survey in cooper-
ation with the County of Santa Clara. The 1978 summer project, the second year
of a three-year project in Santa Clara County, was completed under the general
direction of John Poppeliers, Chief of HABS; Kenneth L. Anderson, Principal
Architect; and Robert Bruegmann, Project Supervisor (University of Illinois,
Chicago Circle); with Jack Schafer, Architectural Foreman (University of Cincin-
nati); and student architects Robert E. Clarke (University of Notre Dame),
Barbara M. Friedman (University of Pennsylvania), Julia H, Miner (Yale Univer-
sity), and John B. Murphy (Texas Tech University), at the HABS Washington office
during the summer of 1979 by architect David T. Marsh. The historical and archi-
tectural data was researched and written during the summer of 1979 by Jan Cigliano,
an architectural historian on the HABS staff, at the 1979 HABS Field Office in
Santa Clara, California. Photographs were taken by Jane Lidz in the summer of

. 1980,



